Draft Technical Brief

Number XX

Patient and Clinician Level Strategies to Address Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health and Healthcare: An Evidence Map

Prepared for:

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality US Department of Health and Human Services 5600 Fishers Lane Rockville, MD 20857 www.ahrq.gov

This information is distributed solely for the purposes of predissemination review. It has not been formally disseminated by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. The findings are subject to change based on the literature identified in the interim and peer-review/public comments and should not be referenced as definitive. It does not represent and should not be construed to represent an Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality or Department of Health and Human Services (AHRQ) determination or policy.

Contract No. [To be included in the final report.]

Prepared by: [To be included in the final report.]

Investigators: [To be included in the final report.]

AHRQ Publication No. xx-EHCxxx <Month Year> This report is based on research conducted by the <EPC> under contract to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Rockville, MD (Contract No. <#>). The findings and conclusions in this document are those of the author(s) who are responsible for its contents; the findings and conclusions do not necessarily represent the views of AHRQ. No statement in this article should be construed as an official position of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality or of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

None of the investigators have any affiliations or financial involvement that conflicts with the material presented in this report.

The information in this report is intended to help healthcare decision makers—patients and clinicians, health system leaders, and policymakers, among others—make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of healthcare services. This report is not intended to be a substitute for the application of clinical judgment. Anyone who makes decisions concerning the provision of clinical care should consider this report in the same way as any medical reference and in conjunction with all other pertinent information, i.e., in the context of available resources and circumstances presented by individual patients.

This report is made available to the public under the terms of a licensing agreement between the author and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Most AHRQ documents are publicly available to use for noncommercial purposes (research, clinical or patient education, quality improvement projects) in the United States, and do not need specific permission to be reprinted and used unless they contain material that is copyrighted by others. Specific written permission is needed for commercial use (reprinting for sale, incorporation into software, incorporation into for-profit training courses) or for use outside of the U.S. If organizational policies requires permission to adapt or use these materials, AHRQ will provide such permission in writing.

AHRQ or U.S. Department of Health and Human Services endorsement of any derivative products that may be developed from this report, such as clinical practice guidelines, other quality enhancement tools, or reimbursement or coverage policies may not be stated or implied.

AHRQ appreciates appropriate acknowledgment and citation of its work. Suggested language for acknowledgment: This work was based on an evidence report, <Title>, by the Evidence-based Practice Center Program at the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ).

Suggested citation: [To be included in the final report.]

Preface

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), through its Evidence-based Practice Centers (EPCs), sponsors the development of evidence reports and technology assessments to assist public- and private-sector organizations in their efforts to improve the quality of healthcare in the United States. The reports and assessments provide organizations with comprehensive, science-based information on common, costly medical conditions and new healthcare technologies and strategies. The EPCs systematically review the relevant scientific literature on topics assigned to them by AHRQ and conduct additional analyses when appropriate prior to developing their reports and assessments.

This EPC evidence report is a Technical Brief. A Technical Brief is a rapid report, typically on an emerging medical technology, strategy or intervention. It provides an overview of key issues related to the intervention—for example, current indications, relevant patient populations and subgroups of interest, outcomes measured, and contextual factors that may affect decisions regarding the intervention. Although Technical Briefs generally focus on interventions for which there are limited published data and too few completed protocol-driven studies to support definitive conclusions, the decision to request a Technical Brief is not solely based on the availability of clinical studies. The goals of the Technical Brief are to provide an early objective description of the state of the science, a potential framework for assessing the applications and implications of the intervention, a summary of ongoing research, and information on future research needs. In particular, through the Technical Brief, AHRQ hopes to gain insight on the appropriate conceptual framework and critical issues that will inform future research.

AHRQ expects that the EPC evidence reports and technology assessments will inform individual health plans, providers, and purchasers as well as the healthcare system as a whole by providing important information to help improve healthcare quality.

If you have comments on this Technical Brief, they may be sent by mail to the Task Order Officer named below at: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 5600 Fishers Lane, Rockville, MD 20857, or by email to epc@ahrq.hhs.gov.

Robert Otto Valdez, Ph.D., M.H.S.A.	Therese Miller, M.D., M.S.
Director	Acting Director
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality	Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement
	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
Craig A. Umscheid, M.D., M.S.	Anjali Jain, M.D.
Director	Suchitra Iyer, Ph.D.
Evidence-based Practice Center Program	Task Order Officers
Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement	Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement
Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the following individuals for their contributions to this project: [To be included in the final report.]

Key Informants

[To be included in the final report.]

Peer Reviewers

[To be included in the final report.]

Patient and Clinician Level Strategies to Address Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health and Healthcare: An Evidence Map

Structured Abstract

Background. Health disparities are a major challenge in the United States. Despite a vast literature on interventions to address racial and ethnic disparities in health and healthcare, these disparities persist for chronic conditions. Healthcare systems need interventions that focus on the patients and clinicians to address disparities and improve health outcomes in the treatment of chronic conditions in adults.

Purpose. The purpose of this Technical Brief is to provide an evidence map to inform researchers and research funding agencies on the gaps in knowledge and research needs for future systematic reviews, as well as to identify existing patient-level and clinician-level interventions that could be considered for implementation by healthcare system leaders and policy makers.

Methods. We searched MEDLINE, CINAHL, and Scopus through February 2023 for U.S.-based peer-reviewed published literature. Reference lists of included articles were manually screened to identify additional studies. Our gray literature search focused on organizations, foundations, and institutes. Relevant systematic reviews were hand searched. We interviewed Key Informants representing stakeholders in healthcare disparities, and used themes identified from Key Informant interviews to contextualize findings from published searches.

Findings. Our evidence map includes 107 studies from 112 publications. Most of the studies used randomized controlled trial design, were clinic based, and included a combination of racial and ethnic populations (among those that enrolled a single race/ethnicity, African Americans/Black persons were most common). The overall effectiveness of interventions were nearly equally distributed across categories of effects. The majority of the interventions were single-level interventions at the patient level targeted at cancer, and most enrolled multiple race/ethnic groups. The most common types of patient-level interventions, directed at almost all chronic conditions, were self-management support, prevention/lifestyle support, and patient navigation interventions. Studies of self-management support and of prevention/lifestyle support mostly targeted diabetes, and patient navigation mostly targeted cancer across all race/ethnic groups. We found very limited information on clinician-level interventions. Additionally, potential end users (such as healthcare managers or policy makers) of interventions are unclear; effectiveness is still in question (particularly because of the ambiguity of intervention terms); equity and patient experience outcomes are nearly absent; sustainability, applicability, and harms and adverse events are not prioritized; and culturally-adapted interventions and the role of community is still developing; indigenous groups are absent; and no information on intersectional factors is provided. Key informants provided supplementary information on potential sustainability of interventions. A great deal of uncertainty persists within the literature, and further research is needed to inform implementation in a real-world setting.

Contents	
----------	--

Executive SummaryE	S-1
Introduction	1
Background	1
Purpose and Scope	2
Guiding Questions	3
Methods	4
Published Literature	4
Search Strategies	4
Study Selection	4
Data Extraction and Data Management	3
Data Presentation	5
Gray Literature	5
Discussions with Key Informants	5
Findings	7
Results of Published Literature Searches	7
Descriptive Evidence Map	7
Study Design	8
Study Setting	8
Population	9
Interventions	. 10
Chronic Conditions	. 13
Intersectional factors	. 14
Outcomes	. 14
Links Between Public Health and Healthcare Organizations	. 15
Harms or Adverse Events	. 16
Applicability and Sustainability of Interventions	. 16
Information From Key Informant Discussion	. 16
Study Funding Information	. 16
Evidence Map – Bubble plots Additional Information on Selected Interventions	. 16 . 21
Summary and Implications	. 27
Study Funding	. 27
Links Between Public Health and Healthcare Providers	. 27
Ambiguity of Intervention Terms and Categories	. 27
Interventions Characteristics and Reported Effect	. 28
Intended Populations	. 28
Intersectional Factors	. 29

Community Involvement and Cultural Adaptation	
Outcomes Characteristics	
Applicability and Sustainability	
Harms or Adverse Events	
Evidence Reviews on Patient and Clinician Level Interventions	
Next Steps	
References	

Tables

Table 1.	Outcome catego	ries1	14
----------	----------------	-------	----

Figures

Figure 1. Understanding the drivers and interventions to reduce health and healthcare disparities
Figure 2. Literature flow PRISMA diagram: search results to included studies Error! Bookmark
not defined.
Figure 3. Number of studies by type of study setting by delivery personnel Error! Bookmark
not defined.
Figure 4. Percentage of studies by race/ethnicity Error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 5. Percentage of studies by intervention levelError! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 6. Number of studies by intervention type by intervention target level Error! Bookmark
not defined.3
Figure 7. Number of studies by target chronic conditionError! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 8. Number of studies by outcome typeError! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 9. Type of intervention by chronic condition by direction of effect Error! Bookmark not
defined.
Figure 10. Intervention target level by chronic condition by direction of effect Error! Bookmark
not defined.
Figure 11. Type of intervention, by race/ethnic group, by direction of effect
Figure 12. Intervention target level, by race/ethnic group, by direction of effect Error!
Bookmark not defined.1
Figure 13. Self-management support intervention by race/ethnicity group, by chronic condition,
by direction of effects
Figure 14. Prevention/lifestyle support by race/ethnicity group, by chronic condition, by
direction of effects
Figure 15. Patient navigation interventions by race/ethnicity group, by chronic condition, by
direction of effects

Appendices

Appendix A. Methods Appendix B. Inclusion Criteria Appendix C. Excluded at Full Text Appendix D. Evidence Tables Appendix E. Evidence Reviews

Executive Summary

Main Points

- Studies with single focus racial groups mostly enrolled African Americans/Blacks. There were very few studies of Asian people and no studies of Native American/Alaskan Natives.
- Terms used to describe interventions were loosely defined and appear not to have reached a point of operationalization (i.e., standardized stage involving distinct and mutually exclusive definitions).
- Most of the interventions were single level, patient level interventions (i.e., targeted only patients).
- Overall effectiveness of interventions were nearly equally distributed across categories of effects (i.e., positive effect, no effect, and mixed effect).
- The most common types of patient level interventions—self-management support, and prevention/lifestyle support studies mostly targeted diabetes, and patient navigation—mostly targeted cancer across all race/ethnic groups.
- We found no information on single level, clinician level interventions.
- Studies reported nothing about intersectional factors and their influence on the effects of the interventions.
- Health equity approach (reported changes in equity of outcomes/disparities outcomes) was rarely reported.
- Harms and adverse events, sustainability, and applicability information of interventions were particularly lacking.

Background and Purpose

Racism among clinicians at the point of care degrades quality of care for racial and ethnic minority patients, and contributes to poorer health outcomes, including for chronic conditions.¹ Addressing these health disparities requires confronting the complex past and present influences of racism as exerted through institutions, including the healthcare system. Healthcare systems need interventions that focus on the patients and clinicians to address disparities and improve health outcomes in the treatment of chronic conditions in adults. Currently, the evidence on patient level and clinician level interventions is unclear, signaling a need for an overview of the body of evidence.

We present an evidence map to inform researchers and research funding agencies on the gaps in knowledge and research needs for future systematic reviews, as well as to identify existing patient-level and clinician-level interventions that could be considered for implementation by healthcare system leaders and policymakers.

Methods

We used methods consistent with those outlined in the AHRQ EPC Program Methods Guidance (https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/topics/cer-methods-guide/overview), and we describe these in the full report [include a hyperlink/URL to the full report on the AHRQ website]. Briefly, we searched MEDLINE, CINAHL, and Social Sciences Citation Index through February 2023 for U.S.-based published literature. Our gray literature search focused on pertinent organizations, foundations, and institutes. Relevant systematic reviews were hand searched. We interviewed Key Informants representing stakeholders in healthcare disparities.

Findings

We briefly describe our findings below. Our full report contains additional findings such as study design, study setting, study funding information; chronic conditions, ambiguity of intervention terms and categories; key informant supplementary information on sustainability of interventions; multidisciplinary approach, community involvement, and cultural adaptation; and important links between public health and healthcare providers.

Categories	Findings	
Number of studies	107 unique studies from 112 reports.	
Populations	Studies mostly enrolled a combination of race and ethnic populations (44%).	
	African Americans/Blacks accounted for the highest proportion of studies with a single racial or ethnic group (32%)	
	Asian groups were scarcely enrolled (7%)	
	No studies enrolled American Indian/Alaskan Native and Asian groups.	
Types of outcomes	Outcomes identified were heterogeneous. Equity outcomes that specifically	
	address health equity/disparity was particularly lacking (outcome	
-	reported in only one study), as well as patient experience of care.	
lypes of interventions and	About the same number of studies showed positive effects, no effects or mixed effects	
reported effects	Interventions were meetly single level nationt level (90%) simed at songer	
	and most enrolled multiple race/ethnic groups.	
	Multilevel interventions (that is both patient-and clinician-level	
	interventions) were notably limited.	
	No studies reported on single level interventions targeted solely at the clinician.	
	The most common types of patient-level interventions, directed at almost all chronic conditions were self-management support, prevention/lifestyle support, and patient navigation interventions.	
	Self-management support, and prevention/lifestyle support studies mostly targeted diabetes, while patient navigation mostly targeted cancer across all race/ethnic groups.	
	No information on intersectional factors.	
Harms and adverse events,	Not prioritized in the published literature. Only one study reported harms	
sustainability, and applicability	and adverse events – fall. Key informants provided supplementary	
	information on sustainability.	

Table E	S-1 Summary	of evidence	man findings
I able E	S-1. Summary	y of evidence	map muniys

Summary and Implications

First, a notably high proportion of included studies enrolled only African American/Black participants, indicating a high level of interest in this group. Meanwhile, research specifically focused on other single racial/ethnic groups was glaringly lacking, especially for American Indian/Alaska Native and Asian people. The limited research attention highlights the challenges of meeting the health needs of diverse race/ethnic minority groups. Second, we found an important absence of clinician targeted interventions. This may indicate a concerning trend toward placing the ultimate responsibility for reducing disparities in health and healthcare on patients themselves. Third, the overall effectiveness of interventions were nearly equally distributed across categories of effects; thus, indicating uncertainty of the effectiveness of the current existing interventions. Fourth, we found considerable heterogeneity in terms used to describe the interventions in the literature. These terms seem not to have reached a standardized stage involving distinct and mutually exclusive definitions. This makes it challenging to determine the effects of patient or clinician level interventions. Fifth, while studies often enrolled patients of race/ethnic groups and framed the interventions as intended to reduce health disparities, the studies often lacked explicit health equity/disparities outcomes. This creates uncertainty around whether the interventions can actually reduce health disparities. Lastly, the lack of information on the harms and adverse events, sustainability, and applicability of interventions indicates a need for a more pragmatic approach to interventions.

Next Steps

Our findings suggest that patient and clinician level interventions that target racial and ethnic health and healthcare disparities are still in preliminary testing phases. Much work remains to move them from research to practice. Areas for future research consideration include: systematic review that fully investigates patient- and clinician-level interventions and captures the varied defined intervention components; studies that are inclusive of or restricted to Native American Indian/Alaska Native and Asian groups; studies that focus on clinician level interventions, with reports on the direct effect on health and healthcare outcomes; studies that incorporates outcomes that directly measure equity/health disparity and patient experience; and studies that empirically evaluate the harms, applicability and sustainability of the patient- and clinician-level strategies/interventions. Our full report highlights other potential research opportunities.

References

 Churchwell K, Elkind MSV, Benjamin RM, et al. Call to Action: Structural Racism as a Fundamental Driver of Health Disparities: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association. Circulation (New York, NY). 2020;142(24):e454-e68. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000936.

Introduction

Background

Racism is a false belief that what we call "race"—which is actually a social interpretation of how a person looks—is a fundamental determinant of human traits and capacities, and that "racial" differences produce inherent superiority among specific groups. This false belief underlies a destructive system of structuring opportunity.¹ Discrimination refers to the unequal treatment of members of different ethnic, religious, national, or other groups. As the behavioral expression of prejudice, discrimination usually involves negative, hostile, and injurious treatment of members of rejected groups.²

Racism and discrimination have been declared a public health crisis, because they directly and indirectly worsen health outcomes among racial and ethnic minority groups. These differential health outcomes are called health disparities—i.e., preventable differences in disease burden, injury, violence, or opportunities to achieve optimal health among socially disadvantaged populations.³ Racism and discrimination create inequities across a range of systems—social, political, economic, environmental, and healthcare, by affecting and creating conditions in the environments where people are born, live, learn, work, play, worship, and grow older. Ultimately, racism and discrimination influence an array of social and economic resources including housing, education, and employment (also known as social determinants of health).³ Racism and discrimination can also cause stress, leading to the activation of the stress-response cycle and physiologic wear and tear associated with chronic diseases.⁴⁻⁷ Finally, discrimination and bias among healthcare professionals can degrade the point-of-care experience for racial and ethnic minority patients, and contribute to poorer health outcomes, including for chronic conditions.⁸

Data shows that racial and ethnic minority groups have higher rates of morbidity and mortality across many health conditions, including chronic conditions such as mental health disorders, cardiovascular disease (including hypertension), cancer, asthma, HIV/AIDS, renal disease, COPD, and diabetes.⁹ For example, African American/Blacks Americans have more than twice the odds of having hypertension than white Americans.¹⁰

Effectively addressing these disparities requires confronting the complex past and present race and discrimination influences of institutions, including those within healthcare systems. Healthcare system disparities are multifactorial, arising from patient, clinician, and healthcare system-level factors. Figure 1 provides a framework drawn from the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities (NIMHD) Research Framework¹¹ and the work of Purnell and colleagues,¹² both of which consider the multilevel factors that influence disparities in health and healthcare. Addressing health disparities in the United States would not only eliminate unnecessary human suffering, but also decrease healthcare expenditures; health disparities account for \$93 billion in excess medical care costs and \$42 billion in untapped productivity.¹³



Figure 1. Understanding the drivers of and interventions to reduce health and healthcare disparities

The need to eliminate disparities is underscored by the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)'s Healthy People 2000 report,¹⁴ which establishes national objectives for improving health and well-being. Since the release of Healthy People 2000, HHS has further increased efforts towards eliminating disparities. The President's Office recently signed an executive order on "Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government",¹⁵ after which the Health Equity Task Force report released actionable recommendations.¹⁶

Healthcare systems need interventions that focus on the patients and clinicians to address disparities and improve health outcomes in the treatment of chronic conditions in adults. Our conceptual framework in Figure 1 suggests that interventions to reduce racial and ethnic health and healthcare disparities may occur at a single level or multiple levels of the healthcare system. One recognized model for considering key elements of a healthcare system that encourage high-quality chronic disease care is the Chronic Care Model.¹⁷ Interventions at various levels of the healthcare system could be mapped to this model, because it spans the continuum of the patient to the healthcare system. For example, at the patient level, self-management support intervention aims might include improving health and lifestyle behaviors or delivering culturally and linguistically tailored health programs.

In addition to race and ethnicity, consideration should be given to the overlap of marginalized or disadvantaged social factors (such as gender, LGBTQIA+ status, disability status, geographic location [rural vs. urban]) and how these overlaps affect patient level and clinician level interventions.¹⁸ Intersectionality offers a valuable framework for understanding how certain social factors interact and how people and their health are affected by social position and access to resources (e.g., racism) and experience (e.g., discrimination).¹⁹

Purpose and Scope

Currently, the evidence on patient-level and clinician-level interventions is unclear, signaling a need for an overview of the body of evidence. Our report will supplement an Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) 2012 report,²⁰ which examined the effectiveness of

quality improvement interventions in reducing disparities in health and healthcare on a limited set of clinical conditions. Here, we expand the scope of that report by including an unrestricted set of common chronic conditions in adults and strategies/interventions targeted more broadly at patients and clinicians.

This technical brief was designed to present an evidence map on patient-level and clinicianlevel interventions to address racial and ethnic disparities in health and healthcare in the treatment of common chronic conditions in adults. The aim is to inform researchers and research funding agencies on the gaps in knowledge and research needs for future systematic reviews, as well as to identify existing interventions that could be considered for implementation by healthcare system leaders and policymakers.

Guiding Questions

The questions below were developed in collaboration with AHRQ and guided our work on mapping the available evidence on patient- and clinician-level strategies/interventions to reduce racial and ethnic disparity in health and healthcare.

What is the current evidence for strategies targeted at patients and clinicians and designed to reduce racial and ethnic disparities and improve health outcomes in the treatment of common chronic conditions in adults?

- a. What interventions have been studied?
- b. What racial and ethnic populations have been studied?
- c. What common (multiple and single) chronic conditions have been studied?
- d. What primary outcomes have been studied?
- e. What are the reported effects (that is, a summary of the direction of effects) of the strategies used in studies of interventions to reduce disparities?
- f. What are the reported unintended consequences, harms, or adverse events of the strategies used in studies of interventions to reduce disparities?
- g. Within race/ethnic groups, what other intersectional influences (e.g., income, sexual orientation, geographic location, language, gender) have been targeted in studies of interventions to reduce disparities?
- h. What study designs have been used?
- i. What information is available on the applicability and sustainability of interventions?
- j. What gaps exist in the current research?

Methods

To address the Guiding Questions listed above, we created an evidence map of primary studies (from the peer reviewed published literature) focused on patient- and clinician-level strategies/interventions to reduce racial and ethnic disparities in health and healthcare. Where applicable, we supplemented information from the published literature with information from the gray literature and Key Informant interviews.

Evidence maps are an approach to systematically identify and report the range of research activity in broad topic areas.²¹ Because they describe the quantity, design and characteristics of relevant research,²² evidence maps are best used to inform research priority setting, and help to define the focus of evidence synthesis such as systematic reviews when an abundant and diverse research base is available.²¹ Despite these conventions, no widely accepted standards exist for evidence mapping; instead, products and methods vary based on project goals.²³

Published Literature

Search Strategies

We conducted a comprehensive literature search from January 2017 through February 2023, searching MEDLINE (Ovid), CINAHL (EBSCOHost), and Scopus (Elsevier B.V.). We also scanned the references cited by included studies and relevant existing systematic reviews. The search was limited to publications from 2017 to the present due to resource constraints and given that in 2017 the National Academy of Medicine called for innovations in health disparities interventions, including multisectoral partnerships, to address social determinants of health. For further details on the search methods,²⁴ see the review protocol

[https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/products/patient-provider-level-strategies/protocol] and Appendix A.

Study Selection

We developed criteria for study inclusion and exclusion based on the Guiding Questions and adapted the standard PICOTS framework (Population, Intervention, Comparators, Outcomes, Timing, and Setting) to outline our eligibility criteria. Study populations needed to focus on specific racial/ethnic minority groups, or the combination of racial/ethnic minority groups needed to constitute the majority of the study population. We included only U.S.-based studies with randomized controlled trial study design, non-randomized study designs (non-randomized controlled trials, cohort studies with comparator arms, pre-post, and quality improvement or single-arm studies of implemented strategies with outcomes captured before and after implementation), mixed-method study designs. In addition, we included studies where the reported strategies/interventions clearly focused on patients and/or clinicians. We excluded studies where patient- and/or clinician-level strategies/interventions were incorporated with healthcare-system-level interventions (these studies are examined in [Tech Brief 2 citation]). Further, we included studies with aims relevant to racial/ethnic health disparities, and settings where clinical care was provided, or showed strong linkages to health care systems that provided such care. We excluded studies of medical interventions with exploratory racial sub-group analyses. We detail our inclusion and exclusion criteria in Appendix B. Appendix C provides a detailed list of studies excluded at full text screening.

We screened the literature using PICO Portal software²⁵ at title/abstract and full text. We used PICO Portal's machine learning algorithm to prioritize the literature most likely to be included. Two independent reviewers screened for possible inclusion at title/abstract as well as full text. We resolved conflicts through discussion and consensus with a third reviewer. Content expert team members provided advice where design features were unusual or ambiguous. To ensure that included studies would be reproducible, we confirmed that exclusion reasons were clearly captured. To ensure consistency in interpreting eligibility criteria, our review team met at least weekly to discuss questions arising from screening.

Data Extraction and Data Management

To answer the Guiding Questions, we extracted data from eligible studies into a data evidence table (Appendix D). Review team members met at least weekly to discuss questions arising from data extraction and to ensure consistency in abstraction.

Data Presentation

We used information reported in the included studies to group interventions, outcomes, and reported effectiveness; we list and define those groupings in the Findings section of this brief. To develop categories for intervention types, we reviewed the author's descriptions of the interventions, and finalized the categories through discussion and consensus with Content Expert team members. We repeated these steps to also categorize outcomes and effectiveness categories.

When reporting, we used wherever possible the exact terms used by study authors. When the studies used uncommon terms to name interventions, we grouped them into relatively similar categories based on the description of the interventions. We used bar charts, pie graphs, heat maps, and bubble plots to summarize information relevant to the Guiding Questions. The graphics summarize characteristics of our evidence dataset. Bubble plots provide the ability to display three-dimensional study characteristics data.²⁶

Evidence tables of data from all included studies are presented in Appendix D.

Gray Literature

We performed supplemental gray literature searches to locate relevant articles that may have been poorly or inaccurately indexed or unindexed. We browsed the first 200 results from Google and Google Scholar for each search string using a combination of terms and word variations. We also browsed relevant organizations including the Culture of Health Program, the Johns Hopkins Center for Health Equity, the American Hospital Association HEAL Health Equity Action Library, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Culture of Health Partnerships, the Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute Portfolio, and the Dissemination & Implementation Models In Health website to help contextualize our search results. We provide additional details in Appendix A, including a table of the organization websites that were browsed.

Discussions with Key Informants

At the beginning of the project, we identified Key Informants representing a broad range of perspectives on patient-level and clinician-level strategies/interventions to inform our review process. We identified potential Key Informants from frequently listed and cited authors of relevant peer-reviewed literature, internet searches for people with relevant viewpoints, AHRQ Learning Health System partnerships and stakeholder lists, and nominations by review team

members. We included patient advocates/representatives, advocacy organizations, clinicians, provider organizations, and researchers as Key Informants. When we could not identify a specific individual to represent a specific organization, we invited the organization to nominate an individual.

We conducted semi-structured interviews (60 - 90 minutes) via teleconferences in September and October 2022. These interviews helped us to: identify important strategies/interventions to include in the evidence map; classify types of strategies/interventions; identify potential promising interventions; and inform our navigational strategy for the gray literature and peerreviewed literature sources.

Appendix A provides example interview questions. We tailored questions to the unique expertise and perspectives of our Key Informants. Prior to the discussions, the Key Informants received invitation letters briefly explaining the project, and their expected role, appropriate disclosure forms for conflict of interest, and discussion questions. We assigned Key Informants to conference calls based on two affiliation groupings: 1) patient advocates/representatives, and 2) advocacy organizations, clinicians, provider organizations, and researchers. We did this to maximize the synergy of group discussions and minimize unhelpful conflict. We recorded all calls and circulated call summaries (including themes from individual calls and the overall Key Informant discussions) to participants could confirm the content. In addition, we incorporated the themes from the Key Informant interviews as supporting information in the discussion section (Summary and Implications of Findings and Next Steps) in this brief.

Findings

This section addresses the findings of our evidence map from the published literature based on our Guiding Questions. Where relevant, we incorporated findings from the gray literature and Key Informant interviews as discussed in the Methods section of this brief.

Results of Published Literature Searches

Figure 2 presents the literature flow of the search results. Database searches of published literature resulted in 8,180 potentially relevant articles. After dual review of abstracts and titles, 471 articles were assessed for eligibility at full text. Of these, we determined that 112 articles reporting on 107 unique studies met the inclusion criteria, and we included those in the evidence map. Appendix C provides a list of the articles excluded at full-text screen, sorted by the reason for exclusion. There were 202 reports that were not relevant to patient/clinician interventions.



Figure 2. Literature flow PRISMA diagram: search results to included studies

From: Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71.For more information, visit: http://www.prisma-statement.org/

Descriptive Evidence Map

Below, we summarize descriptive characteristics of the eligible studies. Appendix D provides a table with detailed information for each included study. We grouped these summarized descriptive results by study design, setting, population (race/ethnic group), targeted chronic conditions, interventions, and outcomes.

Study Design

Intervention strategies to address disparities were generally examined with study designs that strive for rigorous examination of causal effects. A notably large number (69%) of the included studies used a randomized controlled study design. of studies. The remaining few studies used a mix of designs that authors described as intended to improve understanding of how to implement interventions or improve care through quality improvement approaches.

Study Setting

Interventions were implemented in a wide array of healthcare settings (Figure 4), indicating that many different segments of the public and healthcare sectors have been engaged in addressing health disparities. Because the types of and reasons for disparities can be many and varied, including social determinants of health, the settings capture a continuum of public health to highly specialized medical care. Most studies were carried out in clinic-based settings. Ownership or size of clinics vary from large health systems to community-based non-profits. Federally qualified health centers receive federal funding to provide comprehensive health services to underserved populations, thus may conceptually overlap with clinics, but may also provide hospital or specialty care. Community-based settings were used for strategies that reach out to the patient communities, such as interventions based out of churches, local libraries, or community centers. State or large city governments may provide preventive or other health services through public health systems. Other settings may include communication platforms such as telehealth, websites, mobile platforms, or the use of multiple setting. Only five studies reported a rural setting.²⁷⁻³¹

Within these settings, interventions to address disparities were delivered by a wide array of personnel. Clinicians, including physicians, nurses, pharmacists, and other allied health professionals, were the most common (Figure 3). Personnel chosen for their ability to represent or reach patient populations are even more varied, with variable titles and job descriptions provided by study authors, including peer/lay navigators drawn directly from the target population, peer navigators recruited as employees, community health educators, and community health workers (CHWs). Several studies used researchers and implied job duties would transfer to administrative staff. A few studies bypassed personnel by using mobile health, or m-Health interventions.³¹⁻³⁵



Figure 3. Number of studies by study setting and delivery personnel Intervention Delivery Personnel

12

1

Abbreviation: CHW=community health worker; FQHC=Federal Qualified Health Center; NR=not reported

*Note: The categories for study setting were the exact information reported by the study authors. The definition of these categories may overlap between studies.

Population

Study populations were diverse in size and composition. Population sample sizes ranged from 32 to 9,119. Of the 95 studies that reported an average age of their sample, most participants were middle aged (median age 54 years, ranging from 21 to 68 years). Of the 98 studies that reported gender identity, 62 percent of participants were female. Almost half the included studies enrolled participants from more than one racial/ethnic group (Figure 4). Of the studies that included a single racial and ethnic group, African Americans/Blacks accounted for the highest proportion, followed by the Hispanic people then Asians (Figure 4). No study included exclusively American Indian/Alaska Native people.

Figure 4. Percentage of studies by race/ethnicity



*Note: The race/ethnicity groups represent studies that comprise a single racial group, and the multiple race/ethnicity group represents studies that comprise more than one racial or ethnic group

Interventions

Intervention Target Level

Interventions can be implemented in many levels of a complex healthcare system. Patient level interventions are those targeted at patients, such as patient education. Clinician level interventions are those targeted at clinicians, such as clinician reminders for medication adherence. Single level interventions target only one level of the healthcare system, in this case the clinician or the patient. Multilevel interventions are those with components that overlap more than one level of the healthcare system, such as a self-management support intervention targeting both patients and clinicians.

The majority (89%) of studies reported on single-level interventions targeted solely at patients. Eleven percent of the studies reported on multilevel interventions (studies with both patient and clinician level interventions). No studies reported on single-level interventions targeted solely at clinicians (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Percentage of studies by intervention target level

*Note: Patient-level interventions refer to interventions that are targeted at the patients only. Clinician-level interventions refer to interventions that are targeted at clinicians only. Patient+clinician level interventions refer to interventions targeted at both patients and clinicians.

Types/Categories of Interventions

Interventions examined in the included studies did not fall into clean categories. We used study author intervention labels where provided, but often had to rely on study intervention descriptions to categorize the interventions. In these instances, we categorized studies based on our estimation of the primary purpose or approach. Since many of the interventions were multifaceted, they may include components that overlap with one or more other intervention categories. Ultimately, we grouped the interventions into eight major categories.

The largest category, **Self-management Support**, included interventions with the purpose of helping patients take responsibility for managing their health conditions.^{29, 36-64} The interventions may incorporate patient education, appointment reminders, adherence to medication and care plans, behavioral skills training, and group-based counseling, including peer-led support. One example of a self-styled study of self-management support study was a multi-arm trial that randomized African Americans to receive (1) a community health worker intervention, including the provision of a home BP monitor; (2) the CHW plus additional training in shared decision making skills ("DoMyPART"); or (3) the CHW plus additional training in self-management problem-solving ("Problem Solving").⁶⁴

The **Prevention/Lifestyle Support** category included interventions with the purpose of risk reduction/health promotion, usually for a specific condition, such as diabetes or hypertension. They may incorporate exercise coaching, diet coaching, screening, or referral for treatment.^{27, 28, 65-79} One study describes a randomized controlled trial of a multifaceted, culturally-derived diabetes prevention intervention for Cambodian Americans with depression.⁷⁷

The **Patient Navigation** category included interventions focused on facilitating and maintaining patient/clinician communication and access to care for chronic conditions, including

attending appointments with the patient.⁸⁰⁻⁹⁵ Peer navigators were often used to improve cultural awareness, but navigators could also be staff or allied healthcare professionals. One study assessed the impact of a patient navigator program on adherence to attending follow-up appointments and psychosocial outcomes of Vietnamese-American women who receive an abnormal mammogram finding. The patient navigator provided emotional support, education, translation, and assistance with medical bills and doctor's appointments.⁹⁴

Patient Education interventions focus on direct patient health education, such as group asthma education, and often through culturally tailored media or tools.⁹⁶⁻¹⁰⁶ One community health worker-led intervention examined whether group education is as effective as individual culturally tailored education in improving cervical cancer screening among underserved Hispanic women.⁹⁷

Care coordination interventions focus on systematic organization of care activities and assuring shared information between all clinicians or other allied health involved with a patient's care.¹⁰⁷⁻¹¹² They may include clinicians or other allied health professionals to support medication management. One example of a care coordination intervention was a community health worker providing home visits, telephone calls, and group-level activities, health education, patient navigation, linkage to behavioral health, health coaching to Latinos with poorly controlled type 2 diabetes.¹¹³

Transition of Care interventions focus on intensive care coordination, discharge planning, and ma incorporate home-based care.^{114, 115} One study compared the effectiveness of (1) usual home care, with (2) a nurse practitioner transitional care program, or (2) usual home care plus nurse practitioner plus a 60-day health coach program to reduce hypertension in a poststroke Black and Hispanic home care population.¹¹⁴

The **m-Health single component** category included interventions focus on mobile health, or m-Health as a single intervention (i.e., the only component of the intervention), such as text messaging, wireless data transmission, and smartphone applications to send health-related information or direct care.^{31-35, 116} One example of an m-Health intervention examined Hispanic people with type 2 diabetes receiving up to three motivational, educational, and/or call-to-action text messages per day over 6 months.³⁴

The **Other single component** category captured interventions examining a single component but not otherwise easily grouped.^{30, 117-131} These interventions examinations of language concordance, a screening decision aid, risk calculator counseling, training in web portal use, and automated appointment reminders.

Figure 6 provides the number of studies in each category.

Intervention Categories	Patient	Patient + Clinician
Self-management support	26	4
Prevention/ Lifestyle support	17	1
Patient navigation	16	1
Patient education	9	2
Care coordination	5	1
M-Health single component	4	2
Transition of care	2	
EHR-based	1	
Other single component	15	1
Count of Studies		
1 26		
Abbreviation: EHR=E	lectronic Health	Record
	iceatine meanin	100014

Figure 6. Number of studies by intervention type by intervention target level Intervention Target

Most of the patient-level interventions focused on self-management support, followed by prevention/lifestyle support, patient navigation and then patient education (Figure 7). Half of included studies reported some form of cultural adaptation, such as availability of an interpreter, information offered in several languages, and use of culturally-aware peers to deliver the interventions. Thirty-eight percent of studies reported collaborations with community partners.

Chronic Conditions

Figure 7 depicts the distribution of targeted chronic conditions for the included studies. The most common chronic condition studied was cancer (36 studies), ^{33, 36, 48, 60, 63, 70, 75, 81, 85-87, 89-94, 97-101, 103, 104, 106, 117-121, 124, 126-128, 130, 132} followed by diabetes (20 studies), ^{28, 31, 42, 44, 47, 49-51, 55, 67, 71, 72, 77, 88, 109, 111-113, 123, 125} and HIV(15 studies). ^{35, 38, 45, 56, 57, 59, 66, 69, 73, 82, 115, 116, 131, 133, 134}



Figure 7. Number of studies by target chronic conditions

*Note: The categories for target chronic condition were the exact information reported by the study authors.

Intersectional factors

We identified the intersectional factors addressed within studies by documenting when studies reported the distinctive effect of patient- and clinician-level interventions on populations that are characterized by marginalized social factors (such as gender, LGBTQIA+ status, disability status, geographic location [rural vs. urban]),¹⁸ in addition to race and ethnicity. Our included studies reported no important information on intersectional factors.

Outcomes

We classified the included studies according to the authors' reported outcomes. In creating the outcome categories, we considered the practicality for researchers, research funding agencies, health professionals, managers, and policymakers. Table 1 provides information on the outcome categories used.

Outcome category	Definition and Example outcomes
Clinical Outcomes	Change in symptoms, overall health, ability to function, quality of life and survival outcomes that result from giving care to patients. Example: Disease specific morbidity and mortality, blood pressure control, blood sugar control
Process of care	Execution and compliance with recommended best patient care practice. Example: Turnaround time, physician implementation of specific recommendation
Care utilization	How much healthcare people use, the type of healthcare and the timing of that care. Example: Uptake of services, completing screening, primary care clinic visits, inpatient hospitalizations, emergency department visits

Table 1. Outcome categories

Equity of service	Promotion of health for all individuals by adapting services to eliminate disparities in the delivery of services. Example: Treatment completion assessed between a minority racial group (such as African American/Black group) and non-minority racial group (such as White group).
Patient experience of care	Individual patient experience of how healthcare intervention works for them. Example: Patient satisfaction, patient-reported measures of health care access and quality, acceptability (such as confidence in using information given in an intervention)
Multiple outcomes	No one primary outcome was identified, or specifically stated that more than one outcome was a primary outcome. Example: Clinical outcome (such as blood pressure control) and care utilization outcomes (such as primary care clinic visits) reported together in a study with no specifically stated primary outcome.

Included studies commonly reported clinical and process of care outcomes. Twenty-seven percent (29/107) reported clinical outcomes only, and forty-eight percent (51/107) reported process of care outcomes only. Studies reported limited information on patient experience of care^{36, 67, 128} and equity of service.¹⁰⁸ (Figure 8)



Figure 8. Number of studies by outcome type

Links Between Public Health and Healthcare Organizations

Most of the studies had unclear information regarding if the interventions had connections to or partnerships with healthcare organizations in which they were studied, or if they had connections with the public health system at the time of the research.

Harms or Adverse Events

One of a chronic pain self-management educational program identified falls as an adverse event that occurred during usual activities outside the self-management program; however, authors noted that patients may have been more active than usual due to the influence of the program.⁶¹ No other study reported harms or adverse events of interventions (such as unintended negative consequences, including misallocation of effort, decreased patient satisfaction, stigma, etc.). Similarly, we found no additional information on harms or adverse events of patient-level and/or clinician-level interventions in the gray literature or in discussions with Key Informants.

Applicability and Sustainability of Interventions

In this brief, applicability is defined as the extent to which the intervention could be implemented in a setting other than the one where it was researched.¹³⁵ Most of the studies were randomized controlled trials, which imply work and control processes not reflective of typical activities for a healthcare provider; therefore, applicability to real-world settings is uncertain. None of the included studies reported pragmatic information on the applicability of patient- and clinician-level interventions. Sustainability is defined in this brief as the continued use of program components and activities for ongoing achievement of desirable program and population outcomes.¹³⁶ Included studies did not address sustainability of patient- and clinician-level interventions.

Information From Key Informant Discussion

Several of our Key Informants mentioned finance/funding as the biggest barrier to sustaining patient- and clinician-level interventions. In addition, some Key Informants highlighted that it is challenging for clinicians to divide their attention across so many clinical areas (such as hypertension, HIV, and asthma) where disparities are present. Further, clinician motivation can be reduced if intervention impacts are so diffuse that overall improvement is difficult to observe. On the other hand, each specific intervention for a specific population with a specific health condition (such as patient navigation for HIV positive men who have sex with men) may amount to only a small improvement in the larger picture of disparities. Key Informants also noted that sustainability is threatened by the limited bandwidth for clinicians to do the extra work of carrying out the interventions. Finally, Key Informants said that no-cost local resources and community coalition building were crucial to sustainable interventions.

Study Funding Information

The biggest funder of the included studies was government (59%, 63/107), followed by multiple funding sources (12%), foundations (11%), academic (5.6%), and non-profit (5.6%). The source of funding was not reported in (6.5%, 7/107) of our included studies.

Evidence Map – Bubble plots

After examining the descriptive characteristics of our included studies above, we constructed the bubble plots in the sections below to display the relationship between three—dimensions of study characteristics²⁶ In our included studies, thus providing richer information that may be useful for researchers, research funding agencies, health professionals, managers, and

policymakers. We grouped bubbled plots results by intervention type and intervention target level, in relation to race/ethnic group, chronic conditions and reported effect.

Figure 9 shows a bubble plot by intervention type across targeted chronic conditions. In this plot, each bubble represents one study, and the size of the bubble represents the study sample size for the targeted chronic condition and the intervention type. The color of the bubble represents the reported effect of the intervention as presented in the literature. We did not perform further statistical analysis on the effectiveness information presented by the studies. The most common types of intervention (targeted at nearly all chronic conditions) were self-management support, prevention and lifestyle support, and patient navigation interventions. Overall, the effects of interventions were nearly equally distributed across categories of effects (i.e., positive effect, no effect, and mixed effect). Positive effects were mostly observed for patient navigation interventions targeted at cancer. No effects were mostly reported for patient education interventions targeted at diabetes. Reports of no effects were observed for all interventions except electronic health record (EHR)-based interventions. Mixed effects were mostly reported for self-management support interventions targeted at cancer. Mixed results were also observed for most interventions, except EHR-based interventions, m-Health single component, and transition of care.



Figure 9. Type of intervention by chronic condition by direction of effects

1

Abbreviation: CC=chronic condition; HIV=infection with human immunodeficiency virus

*Note: Each bubble represents one study. Bubble size reflects the participant sample size. Smaller bubbles indicate smaller sample sizes and larger bubbles indicate larger sample sizes. The color of the bubble represents the effect of the interventions.

For direction of effect, we classified studies as positive where all reported findings aligned in the positive direction of effect; no effect where studies reported negligible effect; and mixed where reported findings were not all aligned in the same direction of effect. None of the studies had negative effect (i.e., where reported findings were all aligned in the negative direction of effect); therefore, we do not provide that category in this brief.

Figure 10 is the bubble plot by intervention target level across targeted chronic conditions. In this plot, each bubble represents one study, and the size of the bubble represents the study sample size for the targeted chronic condition and the target level of intervention. The color of the bubble represents the reported effect of the level of interventions as presented in the literature. We did not perform further statistical analysis on the effectiveness information presented in the literature. No intervention specifically targeted clinicians. Most of the interventions were patient level interventions that targeted cancer, followed by diabetes and then HIV. Overall, the effects of interventions were nearly equally distributed across categories of effects (i.e., positive effect, no effect, and mixed effect). Patient level interventions targeted at most chronic conditions showed positive effects except for asthma. Patient plus clinician level interventions also showed positive effects, particularly the ones targeted at cancer. In addition, patient level interventions showed no effect across any chronic condition except mental health. Relatively fewer studies reported no effect for patient plus clinician level interventions across any chronic condition. Further, mixed findings were reported for patient level interventions targeted at most chronic conditions except mental health, multiple chronic conditions, and "other chronic conditions," as well as a patient plus clinician level interventions targeted at asthma.



Figure 10. Intervention target level by chronic condition by direction of effect

Abbreviation: CC=chronic condition; HIV=infection with human immunodeficiency virus

*Note: Each bubble represents one study. Bubble size reflects the participant sample size. Smaller bubbles indicate smaller sample sizes and larger bubbles indicate larger sample sizes. The color of the bubble represents the effect of the interventions. For direction of effect, we classified studies as positive where all reported findings aligned in the positive direction of effect; no effect where studies reported negligible effect; and mixed where reported findings were not all aligned in the same direction of effect); therefore, we do not provide that category in this brief.

Figure 11 is the bubble plot by intervention type across race/ethnic groups. In this plot, each bubble represents one study, and the size of the bubble represents the study sample size for the race/ethnic group and the intervention type. The color of the bubble represents the reported effect of the interventions as presented in the literature. We did not perform further statistical analysis

on the effectiveness information presented in the literature. The most common type of intervention targeted at all reported race/ethnic groups were patient education, patient navigation, and prevention and lifestyle support interventions. Overall, the effects of interventions were nearly equally distributed across categories of effects (i.e., positive effect, no effect, and mixed effect). Positive effects were mostly observed for patient navigation interventions targeted at "multiple race/ethnic groups," m-Health single component targeted at Hispanic/Latino people and "multiple race/ethnic groups," and electronic health record (EHR)-based interventions targeted at "multiple race/ethnic groups." No effects were mostly reported for self-management support interventions targeted at African American/Blacks and "multiple race/ethnic groups". Mixed effects were mostly reported for prevention and lifestyle support interventions targeted at "multiple race/ethnic groups. M-Health single component and electronic health record (EHR)-based interventions targeted at "multiple race/ethnic groups." Mixed effects were mostly reported for prevention and lifestyle support interventions targeted at "multiple race/ethnic groups. M-Health single component and electronic health record (EHR)-based interventions targeted at "multiple race/ethnic groups. M-Health single component and electronic health record (EHR)-based interventions" were the only interventions with no reports of no effects or mixed effects.

Figure 11. Type of intervention, by race/ethnicity group, by direction of effect Race/Ethnicity



Abbreviation: EHR=Electronic Health Record

*Note: Each bubble represents one study. Bubble size reflects the participant sample size. Smaller bubbles indicate smaller sample sizes and larger bubbles indicate larger sample sizes. The color of the bubble represents the effect of the interventions. For direction of effect, we classified studies as positive where all reported findings aligned in the positive direction of effect; no effect where studies reported negligible effect; and mixed where reported findings were not all aligned in the same direction of effect); therefore, we do not provide that category in this brief.

The race/ethnicity groups represent studies that comprise a single racial or ethnic group, and the multiple race/ethnicity group represents studies that comprise more than one racial or ethnic group.

Figure 12 is the bubble plot by intervention target level across racial/ethnic groups. In this plot, each bubble represents one study, and the size of the bubble represents the study sample size for the race/ethnic group and the target level of intervention. The color of the bubble represents the reported effect of the level of interventions as presented in the literature. We did not perform any further statistical analysis on the effectiveness information presented in the literature.

No intervention specifically targeted clinicians. The majority of interventions were patientlevel interventions that targeted all race/ethnic groups, particularly multiple race/ethnic groups and African American/Blacks. Patient- plus clinician-level interventions targeted all race/ethnic groups except Asian people. Overall, the effects of interventions were nearly equally distributed across categories of effects (i.e., positive effect, no effect, and mixed effect). Positive effects were reported for patient level interventions, particularly the ones targeted at "multiple race/ethnic groups." Provider- plus patient- level interventions also showed positive effects, particularly interventions targeted at Hispanic people. In addition, each race/ethnic group included patient-level interventions targeted at Asian people, and patient plus clinician level interventions across any race/ethnic group. Further, each race/ethnic group included patient-level interventions reporting mixed effect. Mixed effect was also reported for patient plus clinician level interventions targeted at Hispanic/Latino people.



Figure 12. Intervention target level, by race/ethnicity group, by direction of effect Race/Ethnicity

*Note: Each bubble represents one study. Bubble size reflects the participant sample size. Smaller bubbles indicate smaller sample sizes and larger bubbles indicate larger sample sizes. The color of the bubble represents the effect of the interventions. For direction of effect, we classified studies as positive where all reported findings aligned in the positive direction of effect; no effect where studies reported negligible effect; and mixed where reported findings were not all aligned in the same direction of effect); therefore, we do not provide that category in this brief.

The race/ethnicity groups represent studies that comprise a single racial or ethnic group, and the multiple race/ethnicity group represents studies that comprise more than one racial or ethnic group.

Additional Information on Selected Interventions

The majority of included studies examined patient-level interventions—the most common types of interventions were self-management support, prevention/lifestyle support, and patient navigation interventions. Below, we present focused bubble plots for studies of these interventions in relation to race/ethnic group, targeted chronic condition, and reported effects. Further, we present narrative summaries of selected interventions within the bubble plots, based on the highest number of studies in relation to a targeted chronic condition and across all race/ethnic groups, with the goal of showing how diverse and multi-faceted they were, and to capture the considerable variety of terms used in the literature to describe the interventions.

Figure 13 shows self-management support interventions bubble plot by race/ethnic group, targeted chronic conditions, and reported effects. In this plot, each bubble represents one study, and the size of the bubble represents the study sample size for the race/ethnic group and the targeted chronic condition. The color of the bubble represents the reported effect of the intervention as presented in the literature. We did not perform further statistical analysis on the effectiveness information presented by the studies.

The highest number of self-management studies (7 studies) targeted diabetes across all race/ethnic groups.^{42, 44, 47, 49-51, 55} Five out of these studies reported no effects,^{42, 44, 47, 51, 55} one study reported positive effect,⁵⁰ and mixed effect,⁴⁹ respectively.

The interventions were distinct and included: weekly lifestyle and disease education by telephone plus patient activation and counseling on communicating with clinicians targeting

African Americans, led by two full-time masters-level health educators;⁴² group sessions targeting nutrition education, physical activity, self-monitoring of blood glucose, led by a registered dietician, and social support delivered by peer supporters for urban low-income African Americans;⁴⁷ two interventions used m-Health peer support weekly calls and texts to plan and manage behavior goals for African Americans;^{44, 55} community health worker home visits to low-income patients of multiple races to set health goals and behavioral self-management plans;⁵¹ daily texts and weekly automated calls to patients from multiple racial groups delivered by trained research assistants to address patients' self-identified barriers to adherence along with medication reminders;⁴⁹ biweekly health coaching phone calls designed to assist Latino patients with diabetes self-management and in-person visits delivered by a health coach specially trained in methods of effective communication in Spanish using sociolinguistic strategies with chronically ill patients.⁵⁰





*Note: Each bubble represents one study. Bubble size reflects the participant sample size. Smaller bubbles indicate smaller sample sizes and larger bubbles indicate larger sample sizes. The color of the bubble represents the effect of the interventions. For direction of effect, we classified studies as positive where all reported findings aligned in the positive direction of effect; no effect where studies reported negligible effect; and mixed where reported findings were not all aligned in the same direction of effect); therefore, we do not provide that category in this brief.

The race/ethnicity groups represent studies that comprise a single racial or ethnic group, and the multiple race/ethnicity group represents studies that comprise more than one racial or ethnic group.

Figure 14 shows prevention/lifestyle support bubble plot by race/ethnic group, targeted chronic conditions, and reported effects. In this plot, each bubble represents one study, and the size of the bubble represents the study sample size for the race/ethnic group and the targeted chronic condition. The color of the bubble represents the reported effect of the intervention as presented in the literature. We did not perform further statistical analysis on the effectiveness information presented by the studies. The highest number of prevention/lifestyle support studies (5 studies) targeted diabetes across all race/ethnic groups.^{28, 67, 71, 72, 77} Almost all of these studies reported mixed effects,^{28, 67, 71, 72} except one which reported a positive effect.⁷⁷ The interventions were distinct and included: phone-based, trained same race community health worker delivered lifestyle intervention aimed at making small changes in diet and activity for African American women with type 2 diabetes²⁸; culturally tailored, trained community health worker intervention for diabetes prevention for a South Asian Sikh community, involving education sessions in community settings;⁷¹ culturally tailored, same race and culture, trained community health educators delivered lifestyle diabetes prevention interventions involving an education curriculum based on Buddhist concepts of health and disease with or without medication therapy management for Cambodian Americans with depression and elevated risk for diabetes, held in community and clinic settings, with monetary incentives;⁷⁷ language adapted, phone-based, trained lifestyle coaches delivered, diabetes prevention lifestyle program for gestational diabetes mellitus aimed at multiple races, with monetary incentives;⁶⁷ and language adapted, same socioeconomic background and health problems peer-led, diabetes prevention workshops on weight and diabetes risk, based in community settings, targeted at pre-diabetic individuals of multiple races.⁷²



Figure 14. Prevention/lifestyle support by race/ethnicity group, by chronic condition, by direction of effects

*Note: Each bubble represents one study. Bubble size reflects the participant sample size. Smaller bubbles indicate smaller sample sizes and larger bubbles indicate larger sample sizes. The color of the bubble represents the effect of the interventions. For direction of effect, we classified studies as positive where all reported findings aligned in the positive direction of effect; no effect where studies reported negligible effect; and mixed where reported findings were not all aligned in the same direction of effect. None of the studies had negative effect (i.e., where reported findings were all aligned in the negative direction of effect); therefore, we do not provide that category in this brief.

The race/ethnicity groups represent studies that comprise a single racial or ethnic group, and the multiple race/ethnicity group represents studies that comprise more than one racial or ethnic group.

Figure 15 shows patient navigation interventions bubble plot by race/ethnic group, targeted chronic conditions, and reported effects. In this plot, each bubble represents one study, and the size of the bubble represents the study sample size for the race/ethnic group and the targeted chronic condition. The color of the bubble represents the reported effect of the intervention as presented in the literature. We did not perform further statistical analysis on the effectiveness information presented by the studies.

The highest number of patient navigation intervention studies (9 studies) targeted cancer across all race/ethnic groups.^{81, 85-87, 89, 91-94} Five out of these studies reported positive effects.^{85, 87, 89, 91, 92} One study reported mixed effect,⁸¹ and no effect was reported in three studies.^{86, 93, 94} One study targeting Korean American church-based organizations examined an intervention including interactive group education delivered by bilingual community health educators, patient

navigation that included language translation, appointment scheduling, transportation, provision of information related to the health care system, low-cost health services, and free HBV screening events provided by community health providers, and the engagement of health care providers, church leadership and church members in the medical field.⁸⁹ Another study examined a culturally-relevant education program conducted by bilingual community health educators to address individual beliefs and expectations regarding cervical cancer screening combined with provision of navigation services (help in arranging transportation, scheduling medical appointments, arranging language interpretation or translation services) for Korean American women recruited from churches.⁸⁷ One study examined a patient navigator program that paired Vietnamese-American participants with abnormal mammograms with a Vietnamese patient navigator to provide emotional support, education, translation, and assistance with medical bills and doctor's appointments.⁹⁴ One study examined a colonoscopy-promoting intervention for low-income Latino patients who were randomized to patient navigation, patient navigation plus standard CDC print materials, or patient navigation plus culturally-targeted print materials addressing four culture-based factors associated with cancer screening: acculturation, medical mistrust, fatalism, and ethnic identity.⁸⁶ In another study, individualized telephonic education for low-income adults, primarily Hispanic and non-Hispanic Blacks, provided by two bilingual lay navigators and support to reduce patient barriers and facilitate colonoscopy completion by assessing for barriers, informing and educating patients about the colonoscopy procedure and bowel preparation, addressing emotional concerns about the procedure, making appointments, and arranging for escorts and transportation services.⁸⁵ A combined patient decision aid and patient navigation intervention was examined in one study of Latino, Black participants, who viewed a CRC screening decision aid promoted screening and presented colonoscopy and fecal occult blood testing as screening options, in English or Spanish immediately before their clinician encounter. After the clinician encounter, intervention patients received support for screening completion from a bilingual patient navigator based on individual patient factors, including preferred test strategy, screening barriers, and stage of readiness for screening.⁹² One study examined navigation services for primarily African American participants focused on identification of barriers to mammography screening and intervention via a shared decisionmaking process provided by study staff, including a patient teach back method where navigators encouraged patients to report their understanding of the information exchanged and ask questions about their appointments, care options, and selected solutions.⁹¹ One study examined an initiative which included education about breast health and the importance of screening mammography, accompanied by bilingual (English and Spanish) breast oncology staff patient navigators to increase screening for breast cancer in high-risk minority women of multiple races in lower socioeconomic brackets who are medically underserved.⁸¹ Finally, one study examined an outreach intervention of low-socioeconomic patients of multiple races with documented or suspected cirrhosis containing three arms: 1) opportunistic, visit-based screening for Cirrhosis for Hepatocellular Carcinoma, 2) mailed outreach invitations for screening ultrasound, or 3) mailed screening outreach plus telephonic patient navigation conducted by trained research staff in English or Spanish exploring potential barriers and using motivational education to encourage screening participation, along with appointment reminders, to address any concerns, and reschedule the appointment if needed.⁹³



Figure 15. Patient navigation interventions by race/ethnicity group, by chronic condition, by direction of effects

*Note: Each bubble represents one study. Bubble size reflects the participant sample size. Smaller bubbles indicate smaller sample sizes and larger bubbles indicate larger sample sizes. The color of the bubble represents the effect of the interventions. For direction of effect, we classified studies as positive where all reported findings aligned in the positive direction of effect; no effect where studies reported negligible effect; and mixed where reported findings were not all aligned in the same direction of effect); therefore, we do not provide that category in this brief.

The race/ethnicity groups represent studies that comprise a single racial or ethnic group, and the multiple race/ethnicity group represents studies that comprise more than one racial or ethnic group.

Summary and Implications

This technical brief was designed to present an evidence map by means of a systematic search of the literature on patient- and clinician-level interventions to address racial/ethnic disparities in health and healthcare in the treatment of common chronic conditions in adults. The purpose was to inform researchers and funding agencies about the gaps in knowledge and/or research needs for future systematic reviews, as well as to identify potentially effective interventions that might be considered for implementation by healthcare system leaders and policy makers. This evidence map focuses on 107 studies, published in 112 reports since 2017. The studies were conducted in several states, demonstrating the widespread national importance of this topic.

To make this summary and implications section as useful as possible, we present our observations under subheadings related to various study characteristics in this literature set.

Study Funding

Unsurprisingly, a large number of the included studies were driven by research (academic funded) or grants (government-funded), with the remaining studies funded by other funding bodies (e.g., foundations, other non-profit organizations). This indicates strong support from grant funders for this research, as well as a broad interest from other entities.

Links Between Public Health and Healthcare Providers

Most studies seemed not to consider the potential end user (such as health professionals, managers, and policymakers), since it was often unclear whether strategies/interventions had connections to or partnerships with healthcare providers in which they were studied, or if they had connections with the public health system at the time of the research. Federally Qualified Health Centers are a good example of a setting that straddles the line as a government-supported approach to providing health care to underserved populations. Yet, as crucibles of care that demand making the most out of the least resources, Federally Qualified Health Centers may offer ideas for healthcare providers acting as Accountable Care Organizations and seeking to improve health at the community level.

Ambiguity of Intervention Terms and Categories

As noted in the Methods section, the volume and heterogeneity of the evidence necessitated that we create groupings for study characteristics, including intervention types, outcomes, and reported effects. We grouped studies that did not use easily labeled interventions into relatively similar categories. For study designs and study settings, we grouped by the exact information reported by the study authors; however, these categories do potentially overlap. For example, a quality improvement study could be a pre-post study, and Federally Qualified Health Centers may be grouped as community based and/or public health hospital based.

Additionally, included studies revealed an ambiguity of intervention terms reported by the authors, such as patient navigation, and self-management. These terms appear not to have reached a stage of operationalization that results in clear, distinct, and mutually exclusive definitions. Instead, they are under-specified, and sometimes used interchangeably, yet written about in a manner that implies they have specific meaning. On the other hand, locally developed

interventions within individual healthcare systems may vary widely in composition and process if the interventions are tailored to address the locally experienced health disparities.

We acknowledge that our categorization scheme relies on broad definitions, that our assignments may be imprecise, and that other researchers may arrive at different categorizations based on their chosen theoretical or conceptual frameworks. A more in-depth approach to describing the nature of the reported interventions and the implications for our categorization would have been outside of the scope of an evidence map.

Interventions Characteristics and Reported Effect

The majority of interventions were single- level interventions at the patient-level targeted at cancer, and mostly multiple race/ethnic group. The most common types of patient-level interventions targeted at almost all chronic conditions were self-management support, prevention/lifestyle support, and patient navigation interventions. Self-management support, and prevention/lifestyle support studies mostly targeted diabetes, and patient navigation mostly targeted cancer across all race/ethnic groups. The virtually equal distribution of report overall effectiveness of interventions across categories of effects (i.e., positive effect, no effect, and mixed effect), indicates a notable uncertain of the evidence on the current patient-level and clinician-level interventions.

Patient level interventions seemed not to consider the context in which health and healthcare disparities occur in healthcare settings. Instead, they largely focused on interventions that treat the patient as the source of solutions, with little consideration of other social determinants of health (as shown in our conceptual framework). In addition, high rates of patient-level strategies in the literature suggests the attention should be on treating patients as partners in the improvement process thus truly understanding the patient experience, and how this might also inform shared decision making to create the ground for more effective responses by the healthcare system.

Our evidence map reveals a significant absence of interventions targeted at clinicians. Perhaps this is because most studies of this kind (such as physician/patient concordance and cultural competence) did not report on direct effects of the interventions on health and healthcare outcomes, and were therefore outside the scope of this brief. As reported in a commentary on racial/ethnic/gender concordance and patient outcomes, concordance is largely beneficial, and interventions aimed at improving physician behaviors relative to cultural humility and structural competency remain necessary as a strategy to address disparities in health and healthcare.¹³⁷ On the other hand, this dearth of clinician level interventions may indicate that interventions to reduce disparities are not being targeted at clinicians. This would point to a concerning trend toward placing the ultimate responsibility for reducing disparities in health and healthcare on patients themselves.

Intended Populations

A notably high proportion of included studies enrolled only African American/Black participants, indicating a high level of interest in this group. Meanwhile, research specifically focused on other single racial/ethnic groups was glaringly lacking, especially for American Indian/Alaska Native people. The limited research attention to Asian populations also highlights the challenges of meeting the health needs of the heterogeneous race/ethnic groups that comprise the Asian demographic. These groups included Koreans, Cambodians, Chinese, Indians, Vietnamese, and Hmong people in our literature set.

Intersectional Factors

Included studies did not appear to consider intersectional factors. This made it difficult to determine the effects of patient- or clinician-level interventions on populations characterized by marginalized social factors in addition to race and ethnicity.

Community Involvement and Cultural Adaptation

Our evidence map found few interventions with community involvement (either partnership or collaboration) or cultural adaptation. Such limited incorporation and buy-in from the affected groups may speak to long-standing limitations of current interventions and clinical practice.

Outcomes Characteristics

Notably, we found studies often treated race as a descriptor rather than a major variable of interest in health services research. For example, most studies did not report health outcomes by race. Almost none of the interventions in our included studies reported any explicit health equity approach (reported changes in equity of outcomes/disparities outcomes), focusing instead on improving health outcomes in their exclusively or majority sampled racial minority participants. This creates uncertainty around any reported effects of the interventions on health disparities. Only one of our included studies¹⁰⁸ reported changes in equity of outcomes. Further, we found few studies that reported patient experience of care. This has important implications for patient voice and feedback.

Applicability and Sustainability

Included studies did not adequately consider sustainability and applicability of interventions. This oversight may have stemmed from care delivery being treated as a "business model," and a lack of community informed/involved research. Real-world applicability will require studies that report the sustainability and applicability of interventions through pragmatic trial approaches.

Harms or Adverse Events

Virtually all included studies did not address harms or adverse events of the interventions. This gap in the literature significantly limits any ability to identify under what conditions an intervention may carry unintended consequences.

Evidence Reviews on Patient and Clinician Level Interventions

Our scope did not include an analysis of existing evidence reviews. However, to further assess the scale of the literature, present the topics/scope of the existing reviews and avoid unnecessary duplication for future reviews, we provide summary information on current published evidence reviews on patient- and clinician-level strategies/interventions. Appendix E provides detail on the 45 systematic reviews identified. Overall, most of the literature on patient- and clinician-level strategies has focused on strategies related to patient navigation, clinician-patient racial and/or ethnic concordance, decision aids, self-management, patient education, prevention/lifestyle interventions, care coordination, and m-Health (text or app-based approaches) to improve health and healthcare outcomes in the treatment/prevention of chronic

conditions (such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, HIV, and mental health) in African American/Black, Hispanic, and Asian adults.

Interventions that target racial and ethnic health and healthcare disparities are still in preliminary testing phases. Much work remains to move them from research to practice. Currently, the potential end-user is unclear; effectiveness is in question; intersectional factors are not addressed; equity and patient experience outcomes are nearly absent; sustainability, applicability, and harms are not identified; and American Indian/Alaskan Native groups are absent. In combination with the ambiguity of intervention terms and labels, all of this underscores an ever-greater need for outlining a comprehensive research agenda. The next section highlights possible areas for future research.

Next Steps

Our evidence map highlighted several areas for future research needs, especially patient and clinician level strategies/interventions where the researchers consider the end users and specify the connections or partnership with healthcare systems. Below we describe the specific areas in need of attention (in no particular order):

- Future systematic reviews will be needed to investigate more fully what is known about patient and clinician level interventions. This investigation will need to expend resources considering how to capture the varied intervention components and groupings.
- Focused research is needed on American Indian/Alaska Native groups, given the fact that no information was captured for this group in our evidence map.
- More research needs to focus on clinician level interventions (such as racial/gender concordance, and cultural humility), with reports on the direct effect on health and healthcare outcomes.
- Focused research is needed on the impact of intersectional factors on the effect of interventions to address racial and ethnic disparities in health and healthcare.
- Studies of patient and clinician level strategies/interventions need to empirically consider sustainability and applicability.
- Studies need to incorporate direct measurement of equity/health disparity and patient experience outcomes.
- More studies are needed that assess the impact of community involvement and cultural adaptation on patient level and clinician level interventions.

References

- 1. American Public Health Association. Racism and Health. <u>https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/health-equity/racism-and-health.</u>
- 2. VandenBos GR, American Psychological A. APA dictionary of psychology. 1st . ed. Washington, DC: Washington, DC : American Psychological Association; 2007.
- 3. American Public Health Association. Structural Racism is a Public Health Crisis: Impact on the Black Community. 2020. <u>https://www.apha.org/policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policy-database/2021/01/13/structural-racism-is-a-public-health-crisis</u>.
- 4. Kaholokula JKa, Iwane MK, Nacapoy AH. Effects of perceived racism and acculturation on hypertension in Native Hawaiians. Hawaii medical journal (1962). 2010;69(5 Suppl 2):11-5.
- Simons RL, Lei M-K, Klopack E, et al. Racial Discrimination, Inflammation, and Chronic Illness Among African American Women at Midlife: Support for the Weathering Perspective. Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities. 2021;8(2):339-49. doi: 10.1007/s40615-020-00786-8.
- Thames AD, Irwin MR, Breen EC, et al. Experienced discrimination and racial differences in leukocyte gene expression. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2019;106:277-83. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.04.016.
- Williams DR, Neighbors H. Racism, Discrimination and Hypertension: Evidence and Needed Research. Ethnicity & disease. 2001;11(4):800-16.
- Hall WJ, Chapman MV, Lee KM, et al. Implicit Racial/Ethnic Bias Among Health Care Professionals and Its Influence on Health Care Outcomes: A Systematic Review. American journal of public health (1971). 2015;105(12):e60-e76. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2015.302903.
- Turnbull S, Cabral C, Hay A, et al. Health Equity in the Effectiveness of Web-Based Health Interventions for the Self-Care of People With Chronic Health Conditions: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res. 2020 Jun 5;22(6):e17849. doi: 10.2196/17849. PMID: 32459632.
- Aggarwal R, Chiu N, Wadhera RK, et al. Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Hypertension Prevalence, Awareness, Treatment, and Control in the United States, 2013 to 2018. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex 1979). 2021;78(6):1719-26. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.121.17570.
- 11. National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities. NIMHD Minority Health and Health Disparities Research Framework. 2018. <u>https://www.nimhd.nih.gov/about/overview/research-framework/</u>.
- Purnell TS, Calhoun EA, Golden SH, et al. Achieving Health Equity: Closing The Gaps In Health Care Disparities, Interventions, And Research. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016 Aug 1;35(8):1410-5. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0158. PMID: 27503965.
- 13. Foundation WKK. The Business Case For Racial Equity: A Strategy For Growth. 2018. https://altarum.org/RacialEquity2018. Accessed on July 19 2022.
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention NCfHS. Healthy People 2000. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/index.htm.
- 15. The White House. Executive Order On Advancing Racial Equity and Support for Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government. Washington, DC: The White House; 2021. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/20/executive-order-advancing-racial-equity-and-support-for-underserved-communities-through-the-federal-government/</u>. Accessed on May 16 2022.
- Presidential COVID-19 Health Equity Task Force. Presidential COVID-19 Health Equity Task Force. Presidential COVID-19 Health Equity Task Force Final Report and Recommendations. 2021. <u>https://www.hsdl.org/?abstract&did=860626</u>
- 17. Wagner EH. Chronic disease management: what will it take to improve care for chronic illness? Effective clinical practice. 1998;1(1):2-4.

- Bauer GR. Incorporating intersectionality theory into population health research methodology: Challenges and the potential to advance health equity. Social science & medicine (1982). 2014;110:10-7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.03.022.
- Alvidrez J, Greenwood GL, Johnson TL, et al. Intersectionality in public health research: a view from the national institutes of health. American journal of public health (1971). 2021;111(1):95-7. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.305986.
- 20. Effective Health Care Program AfHRaQ, Rockville, MD. Systematic Review: Closing the Quality Gap Series: Quality Improvement Interventions To Address Health Disparities. 2019. <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/products/disparities-quality-improvement/research</u>.
- 21. Saran A, White H. Evidence and gap maps: a comparison of different approaches. Campbell systematic review. 2018;14(1):1-38. doi: 10.4073/cmdp.2018.2.
- 22. Bragge P, Clavisi O, Turner T, et al. The global evidence mapping initiative: Scoping research in broad topic areas. BMC medical research methodology. 2011;11(1):92-. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-11-92.
- Miake-Lye IM, Hempel S, Shanman R, et al. What is an evidence map? A systematic review of published evidence maps and their definitions, methods, and products. Systematic reviews. 2016;5(1):28-. doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0204-x.
- Dzau VJ, McClellan M, McGinnis JM. Vital Directions for Health and Health Care: An Initiative of the National Academy of Medicine. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2016;316(7):711-2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.10692.
- 25. PICO PortalNew York US. Available at <u>www.picoportal.org</u>.
- 26. Kirk A. Area Cartogram. London; 2021.
- Samuel-Hodge CD, Ziya G, Allgood SD, et al. A Hybrid Implementation-Effectiveness Study of a Community Health Worker-Delivered Intervention to Reduce Cardiovascular Disease Risk in a Rural, Underserved Non-Hispanic Black Population: The CHANGE Study. American Journal of Health Promotion. 2022 Jul 2022;36(6):948-58. doi: 10.1177/08901171221078272.
- Lutes LD, Cummings DM, Littlewood K, et al. A Community Health Worker-Delivered Intervention in African American Women with Type 2 Diabetes: A 12-Month Randomized Trial. Obesity. 2017 Aug 2017;25(8):1329-35. doi: 10.1002/oby.21883.
- 29. Cene CW, Halladay JR, Gizlice Z, et al. A multicomponent quality improvement intervention to improve blood pressure and reduce racial disparities in rural primary care practices. Journal of Clinical Hypertension. 2017 Apr 2017;19(4):351-60. doi: 10.1111/jch.12944.
- Kranker K. The Efficacy of Using Financial Incentives to Change Unhealthy Behaviors Among a Rural Chronically III and Uninsured Population. American Journal of Health Promotion. 2018 Feb 2018;32(2):301-11. doi: 10.1177/0890117117696621.
- Egede LE, Williams JS, Voronca DC, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of Technology-Assisted Case Management in Low Income Adults with Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. 2017 Aug 2017;19(8):476-82. doi: 10.1089/dia.2017.0006.
- Chandler J, Sox L, Kellam K, et al. Impact of a Culturally Tailored mHealth Medication Regimen Self-Management Program upon Blood Pressure among Hypertensive Hispanic Adults. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health [Electronic Resource]. 2019 06 Apr 2019;16(7):06. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16071226.
- Denizard-Thompson NM, Miller DP, Snavely AC, et al. Effect of a Digital Health Intervention on Decreasing Barriers and Increasing Facilitators for Colorectal Cancer Screening in Vulnerable Patients. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 2020 Aug 2020;29(8):1564-9. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-1199.
- Fortmann AL, Gallo LC, Garcia MI, et al. Dulce Digital: An mHealth SMS-Based Intervention Improves Glycemic Control in Hispanics With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2017 Oct 2017;40(1):1349-55. doi: 10.2337/dc17-0230.

- Whiteley L, Craker L, Haubrick KK, et al. The Impact of a Mobile Gaming Intervention to Increase Adherence to Pre-exposure Prophylaxis. AIDS & Behavior. 2021 Jun 2021;25(6):1884-9. doi: 10.1007/s10461-020-03118-3.
- Bouchard LC, Yanez B, Dahn JR, et al. Brief report of a tablet-delivered psychosocial intervention for men with advanced prostate cancer: Acceptability and efficacy by race. Translational Behavioral Medicine. 2019 16 Jul 2019;9(4):629-37. doi: 10.1093/tbm/iby089.
- 37. Bruhl RJ, Perkison WB, Hanania NA, et al. Design of a home-based intervention for Houston-area African-American adults with asthma: Methods and lessons learned from a pragmatic randomized trial. Contemporary Clinical Trials. 2020 Apr 2020;91:105977. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2020.105977.
- Cabral HJ, Davis-Plourde K, Sarango M, et al. Peer Support and the HIV Continuum of Care: Results from a Multi-Site Randomized Clinical Trial in Three Urban Clinics in the United States. AIDS & Behavior. 2018 Aug 2018;22(8):2627-39. doi: 10.1007/s10461-017-1999-8.
- Dang S, Karanam C, Gomez-Marin O. Outcomes of a Mobile Phone Intervention for Heart Failure in a Minority County Hospital Population. Telemedicine Journal & E-Health. 2017 Jun 2017;23(6):473-84. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0211.
- Daugherty SL, Helmkamp L, Vupputuri S, et al. Effect of Values Affirmation on Reducing Racial Differences in Adherence to Hypertension Medication: The HYVALUE Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Network Open. 2021 01 Dec 2021;4(1). doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.39533.
- Eck C, Biola H, Hayes T, et al. Efficacy of Hypertension Self-Management Classes Among Patients at a Federally Qualified Health Center. Preventing Chronic Disease. 2021 15 Jul 2021;18. doi: 10.5888/pcd18.200628.
- Egede LE, Williams JS, Voronca DC, et al. Telephone-Delivered Behavioral Skills Intervention for African American Adults with Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2017 Jul 2017;32(7):775-82. doi: 10.1007/s11606-017-4023-0.
- Ell K, Aranda MP, Wu S, et al. Promotora assisted depression and self-care management among predominantly Latinos with concurrent chronic illness: Safety net care system clinical trial results. Contemporary Clinical Trials. 2017 Oct 2017;61:1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2017.07.001.
- 44. Heisler M, Choi H, Mase R, et al. Effectiveness of Technologically Enhanced Peer Support in Improving Glycemic Management Among Predominantly African American, Low-Income Adults With Diabetes. Diabetes Educator. 2019 Jun 2019;45(3):260-71. doi: 10.1177/0145721719844547.
- 45. Hightow-Weidman L, Muessig KE, Egger JR, et al. Epic Allies: A Gamified Mobile App to Improve Engagement in HIV Care and Antiretroviral Adherence among Young Men Who have Sex with Men. AIDS & Behavior. 2021 Aug 2021;25(8):2599-617. doi: 10.1007/s10461-021-03222-y.
- 46. Liu AY, Vittinghoff E, von Felten P, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of a Mobile Health Intervention to Promote Retention and Adherence to Preexposure Prophylaxis Among Young People at Risk for Human Immunodeficiency Virus: The EPIC Study. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2019 30 May 2019;68(1):2010-7. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy810.
- Lynch EB, Mack L, Avery E, et al. Randomized Trial of a Lifestyle Intervention for Urban Low-Income African Americans with Type 2 Diabetes. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2019 Jul 2019;34(7):1174-83. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-04894-y.
- Maly RC, Liang LJ, Liu Y, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of Survivorship Care Plans Among Low-Income, Predominantly Latina Breast Cancer Survivors. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2017 01 Jun 2017;35(1):1814-21. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.68.9497.
- Mayberry LS, Mulvaney SA, Johnson KB, et al. The MEssaging for Diabetes Intervention Reduced Barriers to Medication Adherence Among Low-Income, Diverse Adults With Type 2. Journal of Diabetes Science & Technology. 2017 Jan 2017;11(1):92-9. doi: 10.1177/1932296816668374.

- Menon U, Szalacha LA, Martinez GA, et al. Efficacy of a language-concordant health coaching intervention for latinx with diabetes. Patient Education & Counseling. 2022 Jul 2022;105(7):2174-82. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2021.11.024.
- Nelson K, Taylor L, Silverman J, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of a Community Health Worker Self-Management Support Intervention Among Low-Income Adults With Diabetes, Seattle, Washington, 2010-2014. Preventing Chronic Disease. 2017 09 Feb 2017;14. doi: 10.5888/pcd14.160344.
- 52. Patel MR, Song PX, Sanders G, et al. A randomized clinical trial of a culturally responsive intervention for African American women with asthma. Annals of Allergy, Asthma, & Immunology. 2017 Feb 2017;118(2):212-9. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2016.11.016.
- Patel MR, Song PXK, Bruzzese JM, et al. Does cross-cultural communication training for physicians improve pediatric asthma outcomes? A randomized trial. Journal of Asthma. 2019 Mar 2019;56(3):273-84. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2018.1455856.
- 54. Pekmezaris R, Nouryan CN, Schwartz R, et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing Telehealth Self-Management to Standard Outpatient Management in Underserved Black and Hispanic Patients Living with Heart Failure. Telemedicine Journal & E-Health. 2019 Oct 2019;25(1):917-25. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0219.
- 55. Presley C, Agne A, Shelton T, et al. Mobile-Enhanced Peer Support for African Americans with Type 2 Diabetes: a Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2020 Oct 2020;35(1):2889-96. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06011-w.
- 56. Raj A, Yore J, Urada L, et al. Multi-Site Evaluation of Community-Based Efforts to Improve Engagement in HIV Care Among Populations Disproportionately Affected by HIV in the United States. AIDS Patient Care & Stds. 2018 Nov 2018;32(1):438-49. doi: 10.1089/apc.2018.0128.
- 57. Sevelius JM, Dilworth SE, Reback CJ, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of Healthy Divas: A Gender-Affirming, Peer-Delivered Intervention to Improve HIV Care Engagement Among Transgender Women Living With HIV. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes: JAIDS. 2022 15 Aug 2022;90(5):508-16. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000003014.
- 58. Taber DJ, Gebregziabher M, Posadas A, et al. Pharmacist-Led, Technology-Assisted Study to Improve Medication Safety, Cardiovascular Risk Factor Control, and Racial Disparities in Kidney Transplant Recipients. JACCP: Journal Of The American College Of Clinical Pharmacy. 2018 Dec 2018;1(2):81-8. doi: 10.1002/jac5.1024.
- Tanner AE, Song EY, Mann-Jackson L, et al. Preliminary Impact of the weCare Social Media Intervention to Support Health for Young Men Who Have Sex with Men and Transgender Women with HIV. AIDS Patient Care & Stds. 2018 Nov 2018;32(1):450-8. doi: 10.1089/apc.2018.0060.
- Thompson T, Perez M, Yan Y, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a breast cancer Survivor Stories intervention for African American women. Social Science & Medicine. 2021 Feb 2021;270:113663. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113663.
- Turner BJ, Parish-Johnson JA, Liang Y, et al. Implementation of the Chronic Care Model to Reduce Disparities in Hypertension Control: Benefits Take Time. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2018 Sep 2018;33(9):1498-503. doi: 10.1007/s11606-018-4526-3.
- 62. Washington-Plaskett T, Idris MY, Mubasher M, et al. Impact of Technology-Based Intervention for Improving Self-Management Behaviors in Black Adults with Poor Cardiovascular Health: A Randomized Control Trial. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health [Electronic Resource]. 2021 01 Apr 2021;18(7):01. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18073660.
- Hazard Vallerand A, Hasenau SM, Robinson-Lane SG, et al. Improving Functional Status in African Americans With Cancer Pain: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Oncology nursing forum. 2018;45(2):260-72. doi: 10.1188/18.ONF.260-272.

- 64. Boulware LE, Ephraim PL, Hill-Briggs F, et al. Hypertension Self-management in Socially Disadvantaged African Americans: the Achieving Blood Pressure Control Together (ACT) Randomized Comparative Effectiveness Trial. Journal of general internal medicine : JGIM. 2020;35(1):142-52. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05396-7.
- Bachhuber MA, O'Grady MA, Chung H, et al. Delivery of screening and brief intervention for unhealthy alcohol use in an urban academic Federally Qualified Health Center. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice. 2017 07 Dec 2017;12(1):33. doi: 10.1186/s13722-017-0100-2.
- 66. Blow FC, Walton MA, Bohnert ASB, et al. A randomized controlled trial of brief interventions to reduce drug use among adults in a low-income urban emergency department: the HealthiER You study. Addiction. 2017 Aug 2017;112(8):1395-405. doi: 10.1111/add.13773.
- 67. Brown SD, Hedderson MM, Gordon N, et al. Reach, acceptability, and perceived success of a telehealth diabetes prevention program among racially and ethnically diverse patients with gestational diabetes: the GEM cluster-randomized trial. Translational Behavioral Medicine. 2022 18 Jul 2022;12(7):793-9. doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibac019.
- Daumit GL, Dalcin AT, Dickerson FB, et al. Effect of a Comprehensive Cardiovascular Risk Reduction Intervention in Persons With Serious Mental Illness: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Network Open. 2020 01 Jun 2020;3(6). doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.7247.
- Dawson-Rose C, Draughon JE, Cuca Y, et al. Changes in Specific Substance Involvement Scores among SBIRT recipients in an HIV primary care setting. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice. 2017 12 Dec 2017;12(1):34. doi: 10.1186/s13722-017-0101-1.
- Fung LC, Nguyen KH, Stewart SL, et al. Impact of a cancer education seminar on knowledge and screening intent among Chinese Americans: Results from a randomized, controlled, community-based trial. Cancer. 2018 01 Apr 2018;124:1622-30. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31111.
- 71. Lim S, Wyatt LC, Chauhan H, et al. A Culturally Adapted Diabetes Prevention Intervention in the New York City Sikh Asian Indian Community Leads to Improvements in Health Behaviors and Outcomes. Health Behavior Research. 2019 2019;2(1). doi: 10.4148/2572-1836.1027.
- Mayer VL, Vangeepuram N, Fei K, et al. Outcomes of a Weight Loss Intervention to Prevent Diabetes Among Low-Income Residents of East Harlem, New York. Health Education & Behavior. 2019 Dec 2019;46(6):1073-82. doi: 10.1177/1090198119868232.
- 73. Schneider JA, Young L, Ramachandran A, et al. A Pragmatic Randomized Controlled Trial to Increase PrEP Uptake for HIV Prevention: 55-Week Results From PrEPChicago. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes: JAIDS. 2021 01 Jan 2021;86(1):31-7. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000002518.
- 74. Schulz AJ, Mentz GB, Kwarteng J, et al. Do Neighborhood Demographics Modify Walking Group Intervention Effectiveness in Urban Neighborhoods? Health Promotion Practice. 2017 Jan 2017;18(1):62-74. doi: 10.1177/1524839916655081.
- Stolley M, Sheean P, Gerber B, et al. Efficacy of a Weight Loss Intervention for African American Breast Cancer Survivors. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2017 20 Aug 2017;35(2):2820-8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.71.9856.
- Victor RG, Lynch K, Li N, et al. A Cluster-Randomized Trial of Blood-Pressure Reduction in Black Barbershops. New England Journal of Medicine. 2018 05 Apr 2018;378(1):1291-301. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1717250.
- 77. Wagner J, Bermudez-Millan A, Buckley T, et al. A randomized trial to decrease risk for diabetes among Cambodian Americans with depression: Intervention development, baseline characteristics and process outcomes. Contemporary Clinical Trials. 2021 Jul 2021;106:106427. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2021.106427.
- Yi SS, Wyatt LC, Patel S, et al. A Faith-Based Intervention to Reduce Blood Pressure in Underserved Metropolitan New York Immigrant Communities. Preventing Chronic Disease. 2019 08 Aug 2019;16. doi: 10.5888/pcd16.180618.

- 79. Taylor TR, Dash C, Sheppard V, et al. The effect of a randomized controlled physical activity trial on health related quality of life in metabolically unhealthy African-American women: FIERCE STUDY. Contemporary clinical trials. 2018;67:121-8. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2018.02.005.
- Butler M ME, Schwer N, Burgess D, Call K, Przedworski J, Rosser S, Larson S, Allen M, Fu S, Kane RL. Improving Cultural Competence to Reduce Health Disparities [Internet]. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). 2016. <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/products/culturalcompetence/research</u>. Accessed on May 14 2022.
- Castaldi M, Safadjou S, Elrafei T, et al. A Multidisciplinary Patient Navigation Program Improves Compliance With Adjuvant Breast Cancer Therapy in a Public Hospital. American Journal of Medical Quality. 2017 Jul/Aug 2017;32(4):406-13. doi: 10.1177/1062860616656250.
- Colson PW, Franks J, Wu Y, et al. Adherence to Pre-exposure Prophylaxis in Black Men Who Have Sex with Men and Transgender Women in a Community Setting in Harlem, NY. AIDS & Behavior. 2020 Dec 2020;24(1):3436-55. doi: 10.1007/s10461-020-02901-6.
- Corrigan PW, Kraus DJ, Pickett SA, et al. Using Peer Navigators to Address the Integrated Health Care Needs of Homeless African Americans With Serious Mental Illness. Psychiatric Services. 2017 01 Mar 2017;68(3):264-70. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201600134.
- Cunningham WE, Ford CL, Kinsler JJ, et al. Effects of a Laboratory Health Information Exchange Intervention on Antiretroviral Therapy Use, Viral Suppression, and Racial/Ethnic Disparities. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes: JAIDS. 2017 01 Jul 2017;75(3):290-8. doi: 10.1097/QAI.000000000001385.
- DeGroff A, Schroy PC, 3rd, Morrissey KG, et al. Patient Navigation for Colonoscopy Completion: Results of an RCT. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2017 Sep 2017;53(3):363-72. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.05.010.
- BuHamel KN, Schofield EA, Villagra C, et al. Promoting colonoscopy screening among low-income Latinos at average risk of colorectal cancer: A randomized clinical trial. Cancer. 2020 15 Feb 2020;126(4):782-91. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32541.
- Fang CY, Ma GX, Handorf EA, et al. Addressing multilevel barriers to cervical cancer screening in Korean American women: A randomized trial of a community-based intervention. Cancer. 2017 15 May 2017;123(6):1018-26. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30391.
- Horny M, Glover W, Gupte G, et al. Patient navigation to improve diabetes outpatient care at a safety-net hospital: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Health Services Research. 2017 21 Nov 2017;17(1):759. doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2700-7.
- Ma GX, Lee MM, Tan Y, et al. Efficacy of a community-based participatory and multilevel intervention to enhance hepatitis B virus screening and vaccination in underserved Korean Americans. Cancer. 2018 01 Mar 2018;124(5):973-82. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31134.
- Martin RL, Tully M, Kos A, et al. Increasing Colorectal Cancer Screening at an Urban FQHC Using iFOBT and Patient Navigation. Health Promot Pract. 2017 Sep;18(5):741-50. doi: 10.1177/1524839917705127. PMID: 28812930.
- 91. Molina Y, Kim SJ, Berrios N, et al. Patient Navigation Improves Subsequent Breast Cancer Screening After a Noncancerous Result: Evidence from the Patient Navigation in Medically Underserved Areas Study. Journal of Women's Health. 2018 Mar 2018;27(3):317-23. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2016.6120.
- 92. Reuland DS, Brenner AT, Hoffman R, et al. Effect of Combined Patient Decision Aid and Patient Navigation vs Usual Care for Colorectal Cancer Screening in a Vulnerable Patient Population: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2017 01 Jul 2017;177(7):967-74. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.1294.
- Singal AG, Tiro JA, Marrero JA, et al. Mailed Outreach Program Increases Ultrasound Screening of Patients With Cirrhosis for Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2017 Feb 2017;152(3):608-15. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.10.042.

- 94. Thai CL, Ong G, Tran T, et al. Assessing the Impact of a Patient Navigator Intervention Program for Vietnamese-American Women with Abnormal Mammograms. Journal of Cancer Education. 2022 Jun 2022;37(3):621-30. doi: 10.1007/s13187-020-01856-5.
- 95. Thom DH, Willard-Grace R, Tsao S, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of Health Coaching for Vulnerable Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Annals of the American Thoracic Society. 2018 Oct 2018;15(1):1159-68. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201806-365OC.
- 96. Ali A, Pena SG, Huggins C, et al. Impact of Group Asthma Education on Asthma Control and Emergency Room Visits in an Underserved New York Community. Canadian Respiratory Journal. 2019 2019;2019:5165189. doi: 10.1155/2019/5165189.
- 97. Calderon-Mora J, Byrd TL, Alomari A, et al. Group Versus Individual Culturally Tailored and Theory-Based Education to Promote Cervical Cancer Screening Among the Underserved Hispanics: A Cluster Randomized Trial. American Journal of Health Promotion. 2020 Jan 2020;34(1):15-24. doi: 10.1177/0890117119871004.
- Chao LX, Patterson SSL, Rademaker AW, et al. Melanoma Perception in People of Color: A Targeted Educational Intervention. American Journal of Clinical Dermatology. 2017 Jun 2017;18(3):419-27. doi: 10.1007/s40257-016-0244-y.
- Christy SM, Sutton SK, Gwede CK, et al. Examining the Durability of Colorectal Cancer Screening Awareness and Health Beliefs Among Medically Underserved Patients: Baseline to 12 months Post-Intervention. Journal of Cancer Education. 2019 Apr 2019;34(2):297-303. doi: 10.1007/s13187-017-1301-9.
- 100. Dougherty B, Fisher JL, Adeyanju T, et al. Impact of a Culturally Tailored Education Intervention for African-American and Appalachian Men in Ohio. J Cancer Educ. 2022 Oct;37(5):1389-400. doi: 10.1007/s13187-021-01970-y. PMID: 33638816.
- 101. Fleming TJ, Benitez MG, Weintraub MLR. Evaluating the Effectiveness of One-on-One Conversations to Increase Colorectal Cancer Screening in a Community-Based Clinical Setting. Journal of the American Osteopathic Association. 2018 01 Jan 2018;118(1):26-33. doi: 10.7556/jaoa.2018.005.
- 102. Kopp Z, Miller L, Turbow S. Pretreatment Assessment of Psychosocial Readiness Is Not Associated with Improved Treatment Outcomes in a Safety-Net HCV Treatment Clinic. Southern Medical Journal. 2020 Jun 2020;113(6):261-6. doi: 10.14423/SMJ.000000000001099.
- 103. Ridgeway JL, Jenkins SM, Borah BJ, et al. Evaluating educational interventions to increase breast density awareness among Latinas: A randomized trial in a Federally Qualified Health Center. Cancer. 2022;128(5):1038-47. doi: 10.1002/cncr.34017.
- 104. Warner EL, Martel L, Ou JY, et al. A Workplace-Based Intervention to Improve Awareness, Knowledge, and Utilization of Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer Screenings Among Latino Service and Manual Labor Employees in Utah. Journal of Community Health. 2019 Apr 2019;44(2):256-64. doi: 10.1007/s10900-018-0581-2.
- 105. Waterman AD, Peipert JD, McSorley AM, et al. Direct Delivery of Kidney Transplant Education to Black and Low-Income Patients Receiving Dialysis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 2019 Nov 2019;74(5):640-9. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.03.430.
- 106. Tong EK, Nguyen TT, Lo P, et al. Lay health educators increase colorectal cancer screening among Hmong Americans: A cluster randomized controlled trial. Cancer. 2017;123(1):98-106. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30265.
- 107. Apter AJ, Localio AR, Morales KH, et al. Home visits for uncontrolled asthma among low-income adults with patient portal access. Journal of Allergy & Clinical Immunology. 2019 Sep 2019;144(3):846-53. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.05.030.
- 108. Bazzoli GJ, Carcaise-Edinboro P, Sabik LM, et al. Integrated Case Management: Does It Reduce Health Service Disparities Across African American and White Medicaid Beneficiaries? Med Care Res Rev. 2017 Aug;74(4):486-501. doi: 10.1177/1077558716649879. PMID: 27305914.

- 109. Calman NS, Hauser D, Schussler L, et al. A risk-based intervention approach to eliminate diabetes health disparities. Primary Health Care Research & Development. 2018 Sep 2018;19(5):518-22. doi: 10.1017/S1463423618000075.
- 110. Carrasquillo O, Seay J, Amofah A, et al. HPV Self-Sampling for Cervical Cancer Screening Among Ethnic Minority Women in South Florida: a Randomized Trial. J Gen Intern Med. 2018 Jul;33(7):1077-83. doi: 10.1007/s11606-018-4404-z. PMID: 29594933.
- 111. Chang A, Patberg E, Cueto V, et al. Community Health Workers, Access to Care, and Service Utilization Among Florida Latinos: A Randomized Controlled Trial. American Journal of Public Health. 2018 Sep 2018;108(9):1249-51. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304542.
- Rovner BW, Casten RJ, Piersol CV, et al. Improving Glycemic Control in African Americans With Diabetes and Mild Cognitive Impairment. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2020 May 2020;68(5):1015-22. doi: 10.1111/jgs.16339.
- 113. Carrasquillo O, Lebron C, Alonzo Y, et al. Effect of a Community Health Worker Intervention Among Latinos With Poorly Controlled Type 2 Diabetes: The Miami Healthy Heart Initiative Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2017 Jul 1;177(7):948-54. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.0926. PMID: 28459925.
- 114. Feldman PH, McDonald MV, Trachtenberg M, et al. Reducing Hypertension in a Poststroke Black and Hispanic Home Care Population: Results of a Pragmatic Randomized Controlled Trial. American Journal of Hypertension. 2020 01 Apr 2020;33(4):362-70. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpz148.
- 115. Lyon ME, Squires L, D'Angelo LJ, et al. FAmily-CEntered (FACE) Advance Care Planning Among African-American and Non-African-American Adults Living With HIV in Washington, DC: A Randomized Controlled Trial to Increase Documentation and Health Equity. Journal of Pain & Symptom Management. 2019 Mar 2019;57(3):607-16. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2018.11.014.
- 116. Anthony N, Molokwu J, Alozie O, et al. Implementation of a Text Message to Improve Adherence to Clinic and Social Service Appointments. Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care. 2019 Jan-Dec 2019;18:2325958219870166. doi: 10.1177/2325958219870166.
- 117. Carlson DS, Grivas P, Wei W, et al. The Effectiveness of Shared Compared to Informed Decision Making for Prostate Cancer Screening in a High-Risk African American Population: A Randomized Control Trial. Cancer Investigation. 2021 Feb 2021;39(2):124-32. doi: 10.1080/07357907.2020.1855441.
- 118. Eggly S, Hamel LM, Foster TS, et al. Randomized trial of a question prompt list to increase patient active participation during interactions with black patients and their oncologists. Patient Education & Counseling. 2017 May 2017;100(5):818-26. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.12.026.
- 119. Green BB, Anderson ML, Cook AJ, et al. Financial Incentives to Increase Colorectal Cancer Screening Uptake and Decrease Disparities: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Network Open. 2019 03 Jul 2019;2(7). doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.6570.
- Hoffman AS, Lowenstein LM, Kamath GR, et al. An entertainment-education colorectal cancer screening decision aid for African American patients: A randomized controlled trial. Cancer. 2017 15 Apr 2017;123(8):1401-8. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30489.
- 121. Laiyemo AO, Kwagyan J, Williams CD, et al. Using Patients' Social Network to Improve Compliance to Outpatient Screening Colonoscopy Appointments Among Blacks: A Randomized Clinical Trial. American Journal of Gastroenterology. 2019 Oct 2019;114(1):1671-7. doi: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000387.
- 122. Lyles CR, Tieu L, Sarkar U, et al. A Randomized Trial to Train Vulnerable Primary Care Patients to Use a Patient Portal. Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine: JABFM. 2019 Mar-Apr 2019;32(2):248-58. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2019.02.180263.
- 123. Mehranbod C, Genter P, Serpas L, et al. Automated Reminders Improve Retinal Screening Rates in Low Income, Minority Patients with Diabetes and Correct the African American Disparity. Journal of Medical Systems. 2019 09 Dec 2019;44(1):17. doi: 10.1007/s10916-019-1510-3.

- 124. Payan DD, Maggard-Gibbons M, Florez KR, et al. Taking Care of Yourself and Your Risk for Breast Cancer (CUIDARSE): A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Health Communication Intervention for Latinas. Health Education & Behavior. 2020 Aug 2020;47(4):569-80. doi: 10.1177/1090198120920529.
- 125. Ritchie ND, Kaufmann PG, Gritz RM, et al. Presessions to the National Diabetes Prevention Program May be a Promising Strategy to Improve Attendance and Weight Loss Outcomes. American Journal of Health Promotion. 2019 Feb 2019;33(2):289-92. doi: 10.1177/0890117118786195.
- 126. Roussi P, Miller SM, Giri VN, et al. Effects of a randomized trial comparing standard and enhanced counseling for men at high risk of prostate cancer as a function of race and monitoring style. Journal of Health Psychology. 2018 Dec 2018;23(1):1800-9. doi: 10.1177/1359105316671188.
- 127. Schwartz C, Chukwudozie IB, Tejeda S, et al. Association of Population Screening for Breast Cancer Risk With Use of Mammography Among Women in Medically Underserved Racial and Ethnic Minority Groups. 2021 01 Sep 2021;4(9). doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.23751.
- 128. Seible DM, Kundu S, Azuara A, et al. The Influence of Patient-Provider Language Concordance in Cancer Care: Results of the Hispanic Outcomes by Language Approach (HOLA) Randomized Trial. International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics. 2021 15 Nov 2021;111(4):856-64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2021.05.122.
- 129. Shapiro MF, Shu SB, Goldstein NJ, et al. Impact of a Patient-Centered Behavioral Economics Intervention on Hypertension Control in a Highly Disadvantaged Population: a Randomized Trial. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2020 Jan 2020;35(1):70-8. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05269-z.
- 130. Valdez A, Napoles AM, Stewart SL, et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Cervical Cancer Education Intervention for Latinas Delivered Through Interactive, Multimedia Kiosks. Journal of Cancer Education. 2018 Feb 2018;33(1):222-30. doi: 10.1007/s13187-016-1102-6.
- Wyatt GE, Hamilton AB, Loeb TB, et al. A hybrid effectiveness/implementation trial of an evidence-based intervention for HIV-serodiscordant African American couples. American Psychologist. 2020 Nov 2020;75(8):1146-57. doi: 10.1037/amp0000712.
- May FP, Reid MW, Cohen S, et al. Predictive overbooking and active recruitment increases uptake of endoscopy appointments among African American patients. Gastrointest Endosc. 2017 Apr;85(4):700-5. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2016.09.001. PMID: 27623103.
- 133. Cunningham AT, Crittendon DR, White N, et al. The effect of diabetes self-management education on HbA1c and quality of life in African-Americans: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018 May 16;18(1):367. doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3186-7. PMID: 29769078.
- 134. Stitzer ML, Hammond AS, Matheson T, et al. Enhancing Patient Navigation with Contingent Incentives to Improve Healthcare Behaviors and Viral Load Suppression of Persons with HIV and Substance Use. AIDS Patient Care & Stds. 2018 Jul 2018;32(7):288-96. doi: 10.1089/apc.2018.0014.
- 135. Wang S, Moss JR, Hiller JE. Applicability and transferability of interventions in evidence-based public health. Health Promot Int. 2006 Mar;21(1):76-83. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dai025. PMID: 16249192.
- 136. Walugembe DR, Sibbald S, Le Ber MJ, et al. Sustainability of public health interventions: where are the gaps? Health Res Policy Syst. 2019 Jan 15;17(1):8. doi: 10.1186/s12961-018-0405-y. PMID: 30646911.
- 137. Schoenthaler A, de la Calle F, Pitaro M, et al. A Systems-Level Approach to Improving Medication Adherence in Hypertensive Latinos: a Randomized Control Trial. J Gen Intern Med. 2020 Jan;35(1):182-9. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05419-3. PMID: 31625041.